I  INTRODUCTION

On March 31,2006, Saxon Mortgage, Inc. ("Saxon") originated a

mortgage refinance loan on behalf of Defendant/Appellant Michael

Shields ("M. Shields"). The loan consisted of a note ("Note") and deed of

trust ("DOT"), both allegedly executed on or about March 31, 2006. The

Note and DOT named Saxon the Lender, and the DOT named Fidelity

National Title the trustee and Saxon the beneficiary. Stewart Mortgage

Services recorded the DOT in the King County Auditor's Office on April

25,2006. True and correct copies of the Note and DOT are included in the

Appendix that accompanies this Petition. The Note, including Allonge and

A. Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Is Respondent Entitled to Summary
Judgment if Respondent has never held
Appellant's Note?

Ill STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 31,2006, Saxon Mortgage, Inc. ("SMI") originated a

mortgage refinance loan on behalf of M. Shields. The loan consisted of the

Note and DOT. Appendix, at A-24: 9-10.

On September 26,2008, SMI assigned all its interest in the Note

and DOT to Deutsche Bank National Trust Co. as trustee for Saxon Asset

Securities Trust 2006-2 (the name is close to Trust I's name)

("Assignment 1"). Id, at A-28: 16-19. SMI recorded the assignment in the

King County Auditor's Office on October 3, 2008 under file no.

20081003000851.

On or about October 22, 2008, the Loan fell into default. Id, at A-

24: 10-11. Approximately 14 months later, on December 29, 2009, Trust 2

{Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, As Trustee for The Resistered

Holders OfSaxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2 Mortgage Loan Asset



Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2), acting through its purported attorney

in fact, Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC ("Ocwen"), attempted to assign its

interest in the DOT, not the Note, to Deutsche Bank National Trust

Company as Trustee for Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2 Mortgage

Loan Asset-Backed Certificates. Series 2006-2) (Respondent)

("Assignment 2").^ Id, at A-28: 19 thru A-29: 9.

Respondent ~ while in physical possession of a Note specifically

endorsed to Trust 2 (Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, As Trustee

for The Resistered Holders Of Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2

Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2) — commenced

this lawsuit on or about August 15, 2014. Id, at A-24: 11-12.

There is no evidence in the record that Respondent has ever held or

owned M. Shields Note or DOT.

1. The July 17,2015 hearing.

On July 17, 2015, Appellants brought on for hearing a motion for

summary judgment. Id, at A-21: 11-12. In relevant part, the motion was

based on Appellants' claim that Respondent was not the real party in

interest. Id, at A-26: 23 thru A-27: 4. Respondent responded by arguing

that it was entitled to foreclose because it was the Note holder. Id, at A-

31: 19 thru A-32: 10; and A-38: 5 thru A-39: 7. But it wasn't the Note

holder, and the trial court said it did not appear to be the Note holder.

The court informed Respondent that Respondent was not an entity

' Assignment of a DOT without the note it secures is a nullity.
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to which the Note had been indorsed or to which the DOT had been

assigned. Id., at A-40: 22-25. Respondent then indicated Assignment 1 had

been made to Respondent. Id, at A-41; 1-4. The court disagreed. It found

the Note had never been assigned to Respondent, and that Respondent

never had a recorded interest in the Note or DOT. Id, A-48: 12-14.

2. The February 4,2016 hearing.

The next substantive hearing was held on February 4,2016. It was

held to decide Respondent's motion for summary judgment. Appendix, at

A-61:4-6.

Respondent argued it was entitled to foreclose, notwithstanding

Assignments 1 and .2, because it was the holder of the Note, and there

were no genuine issues of material fact. Id. Of course, whether

Respondent was the Note holder was THE genuine issue of material fact.

An issue which Respondent wisely chose to ignore.

The court explained that it was concerned because it could not

trace how Respondent became the Note's custodian. The court then

informed the hearing participants that, upon Respondent meeting one

condition, the court would be satisfied that SMI had transferred the Note

and DOT to Respondent. The condition was that Respondent would have

to:

file the document [Note] that shows that there was, in fact,
a transfer from the owner of the note, and the owner of the
deed of trust to the plaintiff - the exact named plaintiff.
Maybe it wasn't this case. Maybe it was another Deutsche
Bank case where people kept doing the names differently
and saying it doesn't matter, but it does matter. So you



need to file that [the Note with the exact-named-plaintiff
endorsement]. And then I am satisfied -1 am satisfied
based on that that they are the holders of the note, and
they are entitled to enforce the note and foreclose on the
deed of trust.

Id, at A-78: 21 thru A-79: 7. (emphasis added).

A note containing such an endorsement has never been filed. It

could not be filed, because the only endorsement on the Note is the

endorsement to Trust 2.

Finally, M. Shields' Note bears a specific endorsement from Saxon

to Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, As Trustee for the Registered

Holders OfSaxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2 Mortgage Loan Asset

Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2 (Trust 3). Under current Washington

law, the holder of a secured mortgage note, and no one else (not even the

owner of the note), is entitled to enforce the DOT that secures repayment

of the debt obligation for which the note is taken as payment. Brown, 184

Wn.2d 509, 539 - 541 (2015). Since M. Shields' Note was specifically

endorsed to Trust 2 by SMI, and Respondent is not Trust 2, Respondent is

not the holder of the Note, even though Respondent has physical

possession of the Note. RCW 62A. 1-201(b) (21) (A).

The appeal followed the trial court's grant of Respondent's motion

for summary judgment. This Request for Review follows the Appellate

Court's affirmance of the lower court ruling.

IV LEGAL STANDARDS ON REVIEW

A. Summary Dismissal of Actions

The purpose of summary judgment is to avoid trial when there is



no genuine issue of material fact. On the other hand, a trial is absolutely

necessary if there is a genuine issue as to any material fact. LaPlante v.

State, 85 Wn.2d 154,158, 531 P.2d 299 (1975); Morris v. McNicol, 83

Wn.2d 491, 519 P.2d 7 (1974); Preston v. Duncan, 55 Wn.2d 678, 681,

349 P.2d 605 (1960). A "material fact" is one upon which the outcome of

the litigation depends. Morris v. McNicol, supra; and Barber v. Bankers

Life c& Cas. Co., 81 Wn.2dl40, 500P.2d88 (1972).

Plaintiff must demonstrate by uncontroverted evidence that there is

no genuine issue of material fact. LaPlante v. State, supra at 158; Rossiter

V. Moore, 59 Wn.2d 722, 370 P.2d 250 (1962); and 6 J. Moore, Federal

Practice 56.07, 56.15(3) (2d ed. 1948). If Plaintiff does not sustain that

burden, the court should not grant summary judgment, regardless of

whether Defendant submits affidavits or other materials or not. Preston v.

Duncan, supra at 683; See also Trautman, Motions for Summary

Judgment: Their Use and Effect in Washington, 45 Washington Law

Review 1,15 (1970).

This court must consider all the material evidence and all the

reasonable inferences that can be drawn from that evidence most favorably

to the non-moving party. In this case, if, after considering the material

evidence in a light most favorable to Appellants, reasonable people might

reach different conclusions about that evidence, then the trial court should

have denied Respondent's motion for summary judgment, and the

Appellate Court should have reversed the trial court ruling. Balise v.



Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195,199, 381 P.2d 966 (1963); See Also 6 J.

Moore, Federal Practice 56.11(3), 56.15(3).

In this case, there was no issue of material fact regarding

Respondent's status as the holder of the Note. Respondent did not hold

the Note when Respondent commenced the foreclosure action that is the

subject of this Petition. Respondent's motion for summary judgment

should have been denied, and Appellants' earlier motion for summary

judgment should have been granted. The Court of Appeals should have

reversed.

V  ARGUMENT

A. Holder and Related Concepts Defined.

The term "holder" as utilized in RCW 61.24.005(2) is defined in

RCW 62A.l-201(b)(21) as "the person in possession of a negotiable

instrument that is payable either to bearer or to an identified person that is

the person in possession." If an indorsement identifies the person to whom

it makes the instrument payable, it is a special indorsement. RCW 62A.3-

205(a). After an instrument has been specially indorsed, it becomes

payable to the identified person and may be negotiated only by the

indorsement of that person. Id. If the person to whom the note is indorsed

has physical possession of the Note, then the person to whom the note is

indorsed is also the holder of the Note. RCW 62A.1-201(b) (21).

Respondent bases its right to foreclose entirely on the claim that it is the

holder of M. Shield's Note.
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B. There is no Evidenee Respondent has any conneetion to
M. Shields' Note.

Two assignments—^Assignments 1 and 2~were executed and

recorded in this case. Assignment 1 assigned the Note and DOT from SMI

to Trust 2. Respondent is not Trust 2.

There is a similarity in the names between Respondent and Trust 2,

so there may be a temptation to say Trust 2's name is close enough to

Respondent's name that Assignment 1 can be said to have been made to

Respondent. But if that is true, Respondent assigned away all its interests

in M. Shields' DOT in Assignment 2.

So, even if Respondent did receive an interest in the Note and

DOT by Assignment 1, Respondent transferred its interest in the DOT in

Assignment 2. Since the DOT contains the power ofsale clause that grants

the trustee the right to sell the property at public auction upon the

borrower's default under the terms of the Note, Respondent's loss of rights

imder the DOT through Assignment 2 eliminated the successor trustee's

legal authority to sell the property at public auction for the benefit of

Respondent.

C. The trial court usurped the fact-finder function, and the
Appellate Court committed reversible error by not
overturning the trial court ruling.

Nicole Gostebski, a senior loan analyst for Ocwen Financial

Corporation, submitted a declaration in support of Plaintiff s Motion for

Summary Judgment and Entry of Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure

(^'Gostebski Declaration"). Attached to the Gostebski Declaration was a

11



copy of M. Shields' Note. Ms. Gostebski asserts Shields executed the Note

as consideration for a mortgage loan granted by SMI on March 31,2006.

Further, Ms. Gostebski states the copy of the Note attached to her

declaration is "[a] true and correct copy of the [March 31, 2006] note."

SMI endorsed M. Shields' Note to Trust 2 (Deutsche Bank

National Trust Company as trustee for the registered holders of Saxon

Securities trust 2006-2 Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series

2006-2). Respondent's name - Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as

Trustee for Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2 Mortgage Loan Asset-

Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2 - is different from the endorsee's name

(Trust 2).

The question that must be answered is, "Are the names different

names for the same entity?" That question can be answered only by

determining and analyzing the facts of the case. Determining and

analyzing the facts of a case are a jury function. Moreover, even in those

cases in which the court determines the facts of the case, it is inappropriate

to do so on summary judgment. The purpose of summary judgment is to

determine whether there is an issue of material fact, not to decide issues of

material fact.

InBain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group, Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, 285

P. 3d 34 (2012), the Supreme Court accepted the UCC definition of

"holder" as the applicable definition of the word "holder" used in the

definition of the word "beneficiary" in RCW 61.24.005(2). Because M.

12



Shields' Note is specifically endorsed, to the "holder" of the Note,

Plaintiff must have physical possession of the Note and must be the

person identified in the endorsement. RCW 62A. 1-201(b)(21)(A). The trial

court found that, at best, there was a question whether Respondent could

meet this two-part test. At worst. Respondent could not meet the second

part of the two-part test.

After making that finding, the trial court should have denied the

motion for summary judgment. Instead, it decided the question by finding

Respondent the holder of the note. The decision of the question was

reversible error.

The trial court itself, on more than one occasion, acknowledged

that Respondent did not appear to be the person to whom the Note had

been specifically endorsed. Appendix, at A-78: 21 thru A-79: 7. Based on

that acknowledgement, the trial court should have denied summary

judgment, and the case should have been allowed to proceed to trial.

Given the difference between the name of the endorsee and

Respondent's name, was Respondent the entity to which the Note was

endorsed? That is a second question of material fact. And the answer to

that question is critically material to the outcome of the case. Why?

Because this Court has repeatedly held that the Note holder is the only

entity entitled to foreclose.

After determining that Respondent did not appear to be the entity

to which the Note had been endorsed, the court was obligated to deny the

13



summary judgment motion and allow the case to proceed to trial. Not

doing so was reversible error. Therefore, it was reversible error for the

Court of Appeals to uphold the trial court's ruling.

In a summary judgment motion, the burden is on the movant to

prove by uncontroverted facts that there is no genuine issue of material

fact. Rossiter v. Moore, 59 Wn.2d 722, 370 P.2d 250 (1962). Regardless

of whether the non-moving party submits affidavits or any other evidence,

if the movant's burden is not met, summary judgment should not be

granted. See Trautman, Motions for Summary Judgment: Their Use and

Effect in Washington, 45 Wash. L. Rev. 1,15 (1970).

Here, the trial court determined that Respondent did not appear to

be the person to whom the Note was endorsed. That determination should

have meant the doom of Respondent's summary judgment motion. The

court should not have usurped the jury's function by determining the

factual issue in a summary judgment hearing. The summary judgment

motion should have been denied. Balise v. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195,

199, 381 P.2d 966 (1963); 45 Wash. L. Rev. 4, 5. See also 6 J. Moore,

Federal Practice 56.11 [3], 56.15[3]. And because it should have been

denied, the Court of Appeals committed reversible error by upholding the

trial court ruling.

In this case, the evidence unequivocally indicates the Note is

specifically endorsed to a party other than Respondent. The trial court

acknowledged this fact. The acknowledgement alone established the

14



existence of an unresolved material issue of fact. The trial court was not

required, or even permitted, to resolve the issue on summary judgment. It

was merely supposed to determine whether there was a material factual

issue. If there was an issue, that issue was for the jury to decide, not the

court.

We are taught to believe that, under our system, fact issues

generally are determined by juries of one's peers, and legal issues are

determined by the courts. That did not happen in this case. The trial court

chose to usurp the jury's function, and the Appellate Court turned a blind

eye to the usurpation. We implore this Court not to do the same.

This case deserves review.

VI CONCLUSION

In Washington, the holder of the note is the beneficiary and is the

only person entitled to initiate a foreclosure action, judicially or non-

judicially. If a note has been specifically indorsed, the only way a person

can become the holder of the Note is if they have possession of the Note

and they are the specific person to whom the Note is indorsed. RCW

62A. 1-201 (b)(21).

In this case, the Note is specifically indorsed to someone other than

Respondent. Whether Respondent is the person to whom the Note is

endorsed is a question that can be determined only by examining the facts

of the case. Factual analysis is a jury function. Having determined that

Respondent did not appear to be the endorsee, the trial court should have

15



ended its inquiry, denied Respondent's summary judgment motion, and

allowed the case to go to trial. The failure to do so, was reversible error.

Consequently, by not overturning the trial court's summary judgment

ruling the Court of Appeals committed reversible error.

This case should be reviewed.

DATED this 9"^ day of January, 2018.

Respectfully submitted.

MICHAEL SHIELDS BONNIE SHIELDS

Michael Shields,
Appellant Pro Se

Bonnie Shields,
Appellant Pro Se
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DECLARATION OF SERVICE

I, Bonnie Shields, Defendant Pro se, declare as follows:

1. I am, and at all relevant times have been, a resident of the State of Washington,

over the age of 21 years, competent to be a witness herein, and not a party to this litigation.

2. On- I caused a true and correct copy of the Amended Statement of

Arrangements to be served in the manner indicated:

Emilie K. Edling, WSBA #45042
HOUSER & ALLISON, AFC
9600 SW Oak St, Ste 570
Portland, OR 97223
Phone: (503)914-1382

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that the

foregoing is true and correct.

Dated this^'^:^^^ at Renton, Washington.

Bonnie Shields, Defendant Pro se

MICHAEL AND BONNIE SHIELDS

DEPENDANTS PRO SE

2805 CEDAR AVE. S.

RENTON, WA 98056

(678) 620-5983
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m..
Loan No: 11971949
BorrtAver: MICHAEL SHIELDS

Data ID: 321

ADJUSTABLE RATE NOTE
(LIBOR Six-Month Index (As Published In The Wall Street Journal)—Rate Caps)

(Interest Only / ARM)

THIS NOTE CONTAINS PROVISIONS ALLOWING FOR CHANGES IN MY INTEREST RATE
AND MY MONTHLY PAYMENT. THIS NOTE LIMITS THE AMOUNT MY INTEREST RATE
CAN CHANGE AT ANY ONE TIME AND THE MAXIMUM RATE I MUST PAY.

March 31, 2006
[Date]

RENTON

ICiiy]
2805 CEDAR AVENUE SOUTH

RENTON, WASHINGTON 98056
IProperty Address]

WASHINGTON
[state]

1. BORROWER'S PROMISE TO PAY

In return for a loan that I have received, I promise to pay U.S. S 380,000.00 (this amount is called "Principal"),
plus inieresi, to the order of Lender. Lender is SAXON MORTGAGE, INC. I will make all payments under this
Note in the form of cash, check or money order.

I understand that Lender may transfer this Note. Lender or anyone who takes this Note by transfer and who
is entitled to receive payments under this Note is called the "Note Holder."

2. INTEREST

Interest will be charged ott^npaid principal until the full amount of Principal has been paid. 1 will pay interest
at a yearly rate of 7B50 The interest rate I will pay may change in accordance with Section 4 of this Note.

The inieresi rate required by this Section 2 and Section 4 of this Note is the rate I will pay both before and
after any default described in Section 7(B) of this Note.

3. PAYMENTS

(A) Time and Place of Payments
1 will pay interest only by making payments every month for the first 60 paymenjs^he "Interest-Only Period")

in the amount sufficient to pay the interest as it accrues. Every month thereafter fwiil pay principal and interest
by making payments in an amount sufficient to fully amortize the outstanding principal balance of the Note at the
end of the Interest-Only Period over the lemainmg term of the Note. The principal and interest payment I pay may
change as the interest rale I pay changes pursuant to Section 4 of this Note.

I will make monthly payments on the first day of each month beginning May 1, 2006. "fwill make these
payments every month until I have paid all of the principal and interest and any other charges described below that
I may owe under this Note. Each monthly payment will be applied as of its scheduled due date and will be applied
to interest before principal. If, on April 1, 203&,.Tstill owe amounts under this Note, I will pay those amounts in
full on that dale, which is called the "MaturiQ/iJaie."

I will make njy payments at P.O. Box 96!ll05, Fort Worth, TX 76161-0105, or at a different place if required
by the Note Holder.

(B) Amount of My Initial Monthly Payments X
Each of my initial interest-only monthly payments will be in the amount of U.S. $ 2,485.83. ̂ ^is amount may

change.

MUDISTAIE ADJUSTABl£ RATE NOTE - UBW Six-IMonlh hde* (As ftjblisbed h The V/a& Street Joum^
« 2006 IIAtdtlleberg, Riddle & Glanna Forrn MRG 7/03 (Page 1 of 5 Pages)

P+0011971949+0817+01 +05+ lOARMNT

INITIALS:



Loan No: U971949 Data ID: 321

18, and on that day every 6ih month
"Change Date."

4. INTEREST RATE AND MONTHLY PAYMENT CHANGES

(A) Change Dates
The interest rate I will pay may change on the first day of April,

thereafter. Each date on which my interest rate could change is callei
(B) The Index
Beginning with the first Change Date, my interest rate will be based on an Index. The "Index" is the average

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