## FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/9/2018 3:03 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95286-8

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### MICHAEL SHIELDS and BONNIE SHIELDS,

Defendants/Appellants,

v.

## DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY AS TRUSTEE FOR SAXON ASSET SECURITIES TRUST 2006-2 MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-2,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Shields' Petition for Review points to statements made at this hearing by the Court, arguing the Trial Court found that the Trust was not the holder of the Note or real party in interest. (Petition at 2, 7.) The citations to the record are not accurately described by the Shields, as the Trial Court decided at the initial hearing that it did not have enough briefing on the Trust's standing to enforce the Note and Deed of Trust. (CP 455; 1501.)

enforce the note; (3) under Washington law, a trustee is entitled to enforce a negotiable instrument whether or not the beneficiary of the trust is named in the indorsement; and (4) a holder may enforce a note even if the holder's name is stated incorrectly on the note. (CP 469, 472-473, 483.)

The Shields filed supplemental briefing, but failed to present any evidence or reasoned legal argument showing that the Trust was not the party entitled to enforce the Note. (CP 465). On September 3, 2015, the Court denied the Shields' Motion to Dismiss. (CP 1514.)

### D. Deutsche Bank Moves for Summary Judgment in its Foreclosure Action

On December 15, 2015, the Trust moved for summary judgment. In support of its motion, the Trust put forth evidence demonstrating (1) that Mr. Shields executed a note and deed of trust that authorized acceleration of the debt and foreclosure;<sup>3</sup> (2) that Mr. Shields had defaulted;<sup>4</sup> and (3) that the Trust was the owner and holder of the note. The Trust presented declarations<sup>5</sup> attesting that (1) Deutsche Bank National Trust Company was the trustee and custodian for the Trust; (2) providing the Pooling and Servicing Agreement between Saxon and Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as well as the Mortgage Loan Schedule showing that the Note was conveyed to the trustee for the benefit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 947-949.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 945.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 685-999; CP 1208-1355.

of the certificate holders of the Trust; (3) attesting to possession of the Note by the Trust (CP 1405); and (4) providing a true and correct copy of the original Note. (CP 953,  $\P$  9; CP 956-961.)

The Note contained two different endorsements from the Lender: (1) an endorsement on the face of the Note to "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for the registered holders of Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2 Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2;" and (2) an allonge to the Note containing a blank endorsement. (CP 960-961.) A scanned image of the original Note was made at the summary judgment hearing and entered on the record by the Court, (CP 1488-1494), and no evidence was offered to dispute possession or the content of the original note.

In its Motion for Summary Judgment, the Trust also provided the pleadings from the Prior Lawsuit to demonstrate collateral estoppel. (CP 919-935.)

In reply, the Shields alleged that questions of fact remained, challenged the assignments and endorsements, and argued that Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee was required to be both the note holder and note owner to foreclose. (CP 1359-1370.) The reply included additional documents (CP 1372-1419), but did not disprove the contents of the original Note. Ultimately, the Trial Court granted summary judgment.

-8-

#### E. The Shields' Appeal and Petition for Review

The Shields filed a Notice of Appeal, and the Court affirmed in an unpublished decision. *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co. for Saxon Asset Sec. Tr. 2006-2 Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Certificates Series 2006-2 v. Shields*, 200 Wn. App. 1057, 2017 WL 4351473 (2017). Defendants filed an untimely Petition for Review, which this Court allowed. As discussed further below, none of the arguments raised in the Petition warrant this Court's review.

### IV. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED</u>

This Court should deny Defendants' Petition for Review. The Shields fail to point to an actual error in the Court of Appeals' ruling or raise a legitimate issue warranting reversal of the trial court's grant of summary judgment. Moreover, the Shields' arguments could be independently disposed of on the grounds of res judicata. Finally, the Shields' Petition does not satisfy this Court's standards for review.

### A. The Shields' Petition for Review is Unsupported by Authority and Raises No Legitimate Legal Issue

The Shields' Petition for Review provides no authority establishing error in the proceedings below. The Court of Appeals and trial court correctly held that the Trust proved its entitlement to foreclose and none of the Shields' arguments to the contrary are correct under the law. Moreover, even if the Court of Appeals had found otherwise, the Shields' arguments were barred by the doctrine of res judicata.

# 1. The Trust satisfied its burden of showing that summary judgment was warranted and there were no issues of fact

It is undisputed that Mr. Shields executed the Note and Deed of Trust at issue in this case, and that those documents allow for foreclosure in the event of default. (CP 953-983; CP 532; CP 922; CP 944-949; 956, 958; 966.) The only issue on summary judgment was whether the Trust had standing to foreclose. The Uniform Commercial Code Article 3, which is codified in the Revised Code of Washington ("RCW"), is the substantive state law governing negotiable instruments, including promissory notes. The Shields' Petition for Review repeatedly states that only a holder may enforce a Note, and that the Trust was not the holder because of minor discrepancies in the endorsement's wording. (Petition at 3, 4.) To the contrary, the RCW provides for multiple categories of persons who are entitled to enforce negotiable instruments, including (1) the holder the instrument, (2) a non-holder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder, and (3) under limited exceptions not applicable here, a person not in possession of the instrument.<sup>6</sup> RCW 62A.3-301. The Trust was only required to establish

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See RCW 62A.3-301 (enforcement of lost instruments) or RCW 62A.3-418(d) (enforcement of dishonored instrument).

entitlement to enforce the Note under one of these criteria, in order for entitlement to foreclose through the Deed of Trust to vest in the Trust as well. *Bain v. Metropolitan Mortg. Group, Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 104, 285 P.3d 34 (2012). ("Washington's deed of trust act contemplates that the security instrument will follow the note, not the other way around."); *Am. Sav. Bank & Trust Co. v. Helgesen*, 64 Wn. 54, 61, 116 P. 837 (1911) ("*Am. Sav. Bank*") ("There is no doubt that a mortgage, or any other security given for the payment of a bill or note, passes by transfer of the bill or note to the transferee."). Here, as further explained below, the Trust established through evidence that it was the party entitled to enforce the Note because it qualified as a holder in multiple respects, or as a party in possession with the rights of a holder.

a. The Trust proved it was the party entitled to enforce the Note as a holder under the blank indorsement or the special indorsement

The UCC provides that note "holder" is "the person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or to an identified person that is the person in possession." RCW 62A.1-201(b)(21)(A). A blank indorsement is considered an indorsement payable to bearer and a note with a blank indorsement can be negotiated by transfer alone. RCW 62A.3-205(b). Here, it is undisputed that the Trust possessed the Note and that the Note contained an allonge with a blank indorsement. An allonge that is affixed to an instrument is legally a part of the instrument. RCW 62A.3-204. Accordingly, the Trust was entitled to enforce the Note as the holder under RCW 62A.1-201(b)(21)(A). Indeed, the Court of Appeals decision in this case noted that the Shields' appellate briefing "fail[ed] to explain why [the Trust's] possession of the note is not dispositive [due to the blank allonge]." *Shields*, 2017 WL 4351473, at \*2. The Shields' Petition also omits any discussion of this issue.

Further, the Note also contains a special indorsement made out to "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for the registered holders of Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2 Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2." (CP 960.) The judicial foreclosure action was brought by "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2 Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2." (CP 1) Both the Note and the complaint clearly identify (1) Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as the trustee and (2) the Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2, Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2. It is immaterial that there is a minor deviation in the indorsement because it mentions "registered holders." Under Washington law, "if an instrument is payable to a trust...or a person described as a trustee...the instrument is payable to the trustee...regardless of whether the beneficiary or estate is also named." CW 62A.3-110(2)(i). Here, the indorsement on the Note clearly identifies the trustee, and the name of the Trust therefore need not have been stated in the indorsement at all.

Finally, Washington law expressly acknowledges that a payee may be incorrectly identified in an indorsement and expressly authorizes enforcement of the note in spite of an erroneous indorsement. RCW § 62A.3-110(a). *See also In re McFadden*, 471 B.R. 136, 174 (Bankr. S.C. 2012) (citing South Carolina's corollary version of the UCC and holding minor deviation in an indorsement is immaterial.)

# b. The Trust proved the Note had transferred to it and it had the "rights of a holder"

Even if this Court disagreed with the above and concluded that the Trust was not a holder due to the discrepancy between the indorsement and the name of the plaintiff Trust, the Trust established it was entitled to enforce even as a non-holder because it has the "rights of a holder" under RCW 62A.3-301. A "nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder" under RCW 62A.3-301 includes persons who acquire physical possession of a note not indorsed to them, from a holder who intends to transfer his enforcement rights. *See* RCW 62A.3-203(a)

("instrument is transferred when it is delivered by a person other than its issuer for the purpose of giving to the person receiving delivery the right to enforce the instrument"); RCW 62A.3-203(b) ("Transfer of an instrument . . . vests in the transferee any right of the transferor to enforce the instrument . . . .") See also Ford Consumer Finance Co., Inc. v. Fidelity Nat. Title Co. of Washington, 86 Wn. App.. 1005 (1997) (holding delivery by one entity to another of an original promissory note in exchange for funding a loan was "clearly for the purpose of transferring ownership of the note and the means to enforce the note. Thus, this expression of intent, without more, was sufficient to transfer ownership of the Note to [the transferee]."); RCWA § 62A.3-203 (West), Uniform Commercial Code Comments, § 2 ("If the transferee is not a holder because the transferor did not indorse, the transferee is nevertheless a person entitled to enforce the instrument under Section 3-301 if the transferor was a holder at the time of transfer.")

Here, Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee provided sworn evidence showing that (1) the Loan was conveyed to Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2, Mortgage Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2006-2,<sup>7</sup> (2) the Loan was conveyed to the Trust for the benefit of the

<sup>7</sup> (CP 690)

certificateholders of the Trust, as part of a Pooling and Servicing Agreement,<sup>8</sup> and (3) the Trust is the owner of the Note.<sup>9</sup> (CP 953). There can be no dispute that the Trust received the Note from a party entitled to enforce it, because it received the Note from the original lender, Saxon Mortgage. Accordingly, the Trust obtained the right of Saxon to enforce the Note. *See, e.g., In re Tarantola*, 491 B.R. 111, 119-20 (Bankr. D. Ariz. 2013) ("Even if the indorsements were insufficient to render Defendant a holder, Defendant meets all of the nonholder criteria....")

## c. Assignments to the Deed of Trust are Immaterial in Light of Proof that the Trust is the Party Entitled to Enforce the Note

The Shields' Petition briefly challenges the identification of the Trust in Assignment of Deed of Trust documents, arguing there are more discrepancies in the name of the Trust in those documents. (Petition at 11.) This claim fails for several reasons. First, each assignment consistently refers to the Saxon Asset Securities Trust 2006-2,<sup>10</sup> as well as to Deutsche Bank National Trust Company. Second, the assignments are assignments to the deed of trust, and accordingly, neither assignment legally changes the party entitled to enforce the note. An indorsement must be on the instrument or an allonge, RCW 62A.3-204, and neither assignment satisfies that requirement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> (Id.) <sup>9</sup> (CP 953) <sup>10</sup> (CP 63; 65.)

Finally, assignments are not required in Washington to foreclose because the right to enforce a security instrument *automatically* vests in the entity having the right to enforce the promissory note, whose repayment is secured by the deed of trust. *See, e.g., Bain v. Metropolitan Mortg. Group, Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 104, 285 P.3d 34 (2012). ("Washington's deed of trust act contemplates that the security instrument will follow the note, not the other way around."); *Am. Sav. Bank & Trust Co. v. Helgesen*, 64 Wn. 54, 61, 116 P. 837 (1911) ("*Am. Sav. Bank*") ("There is no doubt that a mortgage, or any other security given for the payment of a bill or note, passes by transfer of the bill or note to the transferee.").

# *d.* The Trust is not required to register to do business in order to enforce a security interest

The Shields also argue that the Trust may not litigate this matter because it has not registered to do business in the state of Washington. However, this argument is unavailing. RCW 23.95.520 of the Uniform Business Organizations Code specifically states that neither acquiring nor enforcing mortgages and security interests in property constitutes "doing business" under the terms of the statute.

# e. The Shields' defenses and arguments were precluded by res judicata

In the proceedings below, neither the Trial Court nor the Court of Appeals opted to dispose of this matter on the Trust's alternative ground for summary judgment, establishing that the Shields' arguments that the Trust lacked standing to foreclosed were barred by res judicata. *Shields*, 2017 WL 4351473, at \*3. If this Court accepts review, the Trust requests that the Court also review this issue and allow filing of a supplemental brief further expanding on this argument, pursuant to Washington Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.7(d). In sum, here, the Shields' primary argument on appeal and before this Court is that the Trust is not the note holder and beneficiary under Washington law, and therefore lacks standing to foreclose. However, this issue was raised and litigated in the Prior Litigation, when the Shields sought to restrain the Trust's pending nonjudicial foreclosure. (CP 923-924, 927.) The doctrine of collateral estoppel precludes re-litigation of the argument.

### B. The Defendants' Petition Does Not Satisfy any Requirement for Acceptance of Review

The Shields' Petition suffers a further defect in that it fails to satisfy this Court's requirements for review. Pursuant to the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 13.4(b), a petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court is accepted only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

The Shields fail to establish that any of these bases exist. They identify no conflict with the Washington Supreme Court or among any jurisdictions. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' decision was consistent with numerous Washington authorities holding that an entity is entitled to enforce a note through foreclosure upon proof that it is the "holder," of the note, which requires proof only of possession of a note indorsed to the entity or indorsed in blank. *John Davis & Co. v. Cedar Glen No. Four, Inc.*, 75 Wash. 2d 214, 222-23 (1969); *Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. 166, 174, 367 P.3d 600 (2016). *See also* RCW 62A.3-301.

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